FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAY 17 1993

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

Respondent.

v.

Case No.: 71727 1st DCA Case No.: 91-854

MARY JOYCE ROGERS,

#### PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR #0325791

GYPSY BAILEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #0797200

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904)488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

#

## Preliminary Statement

Petitioner, the State of Florida, the prosecuting authority in the trial court and appellee below, will be referred to in this brief as the state. Respondent, MARY JOYCE ROGERS, the defendant in the trial court and appellant below, will be referred to in this brief as respondent. References to the appendix will be noted by the symbol "A," followed by the appropriate page number(s) in parentheses.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The state seeks review of the First District's decision in Rogers v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D930 (Fla. 1st DCA Apr. 8, 1993).

Respondent was convicted of the first degree murder of her boyfriend (A1 at 1). At trial, respondent claimed self defense, and in this regard, sought to introduce the testimony of Dr. Harry Krop on the subject of battered woman's syndrome (Al at 2). The trial court excluded the testimony of Dr. Krop "'because the evidence proffered is insufficient for this court to find that the state of the art or scientific knowledge pertaining to Battered Woman Syndrome permits a reasonable opinion to be given by an The First District concluded that expert.'" (A1 at 2). this exclusion constituted error, held as a matter of law that battered woman's syndrome is now generally acceptable in the relevant scientific community, and reversed and remanded this case for a new trial (A1 at 2).

In reaching this conclusion, the First District noted its <u>Hawthorne v. State</u>, 408 So. 2d 801 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), decision, wherein that court

first confronted the question of the admissibility of expert testimony regarding the battered woman's syndrome. We gave qualified approval to the use of such evidence, and explained that, in

addition to the usual showing required for admission of expert testimony, a party offering expert testimony relating to the syndrome would be required to satisfy the trial judge that the state of the art or scientific knowledge is sufficiently developed to permit a reasonable opinion to be given by the expert. <u>Id.</u> at 805 & 806.

(Al at 2).

The state moved for rehearing on several grounds, which the First District denied. See (A2 & A3). The state then timely filed its notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction, and pursuant to City of Miami v. Arostegui, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D978 (Fla. 1st DCA Apr. 12, 1993), moved the First District to stay issuance of the mandate. See (A4). This jurisdictional brief follows.

Compare this requirement for admission with the usual requirement for admission of novel scientific evidence that the scientific principle or principles upon which the testimony is based must be "'sufficiently established to have gained general scientific acceptance in the particular field in which it belongs,'" and must have "'attained sufficient scientific and psychological accuracy . . [to be] capable of definite and certain interpretation.'" Stokes v. State, 548 So. 2d 188, 193 (Fla. 1989) (quoting Frye v. United States, 293 F.2d 1013, 1014 & 1026 (D.C. Cir. 1923)).

#### STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Supreme Court of Florida has jurisdiction to review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or another district court of appeal on the same point of law. Fla. Const. art. V, §3(b)(3); Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The instant decision directly and expressly conflicts with Glendening v. State, 536 So. 2d 212 (Fla. 1988), Kruse v. State, 483 So. 2d 1383 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986), and Andrews v. State, 533 So. 2d 841 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), by holding that the Frye v. United States, 293 F.2d 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923), test for the admissibility of expert testimony applies to battered woman's syndrome. Glendening, Kruse and Andrews espouse the relevancy test derived from Florida's regarding the admissibility of evidence code expert testimony concerning sexual abuse, post traumatic stress syndrome, and DNA evidence, respectively. For this reason, this Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### Issue

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT AND OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL.

The decision of the First District in the present case directly and expressly conflicts with decisions from this court and other district courts ofappeal, Glendening v. State, 536 So. 2d 212 (Fla. 1988); Kruse v. State, 483 So. 2d 1383 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986); and Andrews v. State, 533 So. 2d 841 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988). This conflict arises from the holding of the First District that evidence of battered woman's syndrome must be subjected to the admissibility test enunciated in Frye v. United States, 293 F.2d 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923). Glendening, Kruse, and Andrews have held that the relevancy test gleaned from Florida's evidence code applies regarding the admissibility of expert testimony concerning sexual abuse, post traumatic stress syndrome, and DNA evidence, respectively.

In <u>Glendening</u>, a coordinator for the child protection team, recognized as an expert in the area of interviewing children concerning sexual abuse, testified that she had reached an opinion within a reasonable degree of professional certainty that the child had been sexually abused. In holding that this testimony was correctly

admitted into evidence, this Court cited to Fla. Stat. §§ 90.403 & 90.702 (1985), and noted that Florida's evidence code sets forth four requirements for the admission of expert testimony: "(1) the opinion evidence must help the trier of fact; (2) the witness must be qualified as an expert; (3) the opinion must be capable of being applied to the evidence at trial; and (4) the probative value of the opinion must not be substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice." 536 So. 2d at 220.

In <u>Kruse</u>, an expert in child and adolescent psychiatry testified that the victim was suffering from post traumatic stress syndrome. In holding that this testimony was correctly admitted into evidence, the Fourth District cited to Fla. Stat. §§ 90.401, 90.402, 90.403, & 90.702 (1983) in concluding:

With some qualification, we believe the relevancy approach set out in the code is appropriate evidence the standard determining for admissibility of expert testimony on sexual abuse. The statutory child relevancy standard also comports with the holdings of the Florida Supreme Court in the area of expert testimony. The court has stated that while trial have broad discretion determining the range of subjects on an expert may testify, which testimony should usually be received only where the disputed issue for which the evidence is offered, is beyond the ordinary understanding of the jury. This view is consistent with the first requirement of section 90.702, that the

opinion evidence be helpful to the trier of fact, as well as the provisions of section 90.403, that the danger of prejudice may outweigh the value of the evidence.

483 So. 2d at 1385 (citation omitted).

In Andrews, the Fifth District exhaustively reviewed Florida case law and statutes to conclude that the relevancy test "should be followed in Florida." 533 So. 2d at 847. Specifically, the court reviewed Brown v. State, 426 So. 2d 76 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), in which Judge Ervin concluded that it was unclear whether Frye had been accepted by the Florida Ervin's "review of Kaminski v. State, 63 So. 2d 339 (Fla. 1952), Coppolino v. State, 233 So. 2d 68 (Fla. 2d DCA 1968), appeal dismissed, 234 So. 2d 120 (Fla. 1969), cert. denied, 399 U.S. 927 . . . (1970), and Jent v. State, 408 So. 2d 1024 (Fla. 1981) led him to conclude that the Frye test had not been adopted." 533 So. 2d at 844. The Andrews court also referenced Bundy v. State, 455 So. 2d 330 (Fla. 1984) [Bundy I], and Bundy v. State, 471 So. 2d 9 (Fla. 1985) [Bundy II], observing that, in Bundy I, this Court had never referenced Frye, and in Bundy II, this Court never specifically stated that it was adopting Frye. 533 So. 2d at 844-45. Finally, the Andrews court concluded:

> This "relevancy approach" suggested by the First District in Brown and adopted by the Fourth District in Kruse, has been referred to as the preferred

approach and was substantially adopted by the federal Third Circuit in United States v. Downing, 753 F.2d 1224 (3d Cir. This approach recognizes 1985). the relevancy as linchpin admissibility, while at the same time ensuring that only reliable scientific evidence will be admitted, and seems preferable to the "general acceptance" approach of Frye which is predicated on a "nose counting," Downing, 753 F.2d at 1238, and may result in the exclusion of reliable evidence. We believe this approach to be the one which should be followed in Florida.

533 So. 2d at 846-47 (footnotes omitted).

Ιn however, the First the instant case, District concluded that an expert's testimony concerning the battered woman's syndrome must pass the Frye test, not the relevancy In so holding, the First District has created express and direct conflict with the cases referenced above. Court should exercise its jurisdiction in this case not only to alleviate the conflict, but to rule dispositively on the question of whether Frye or the relevancy test controls the admission of expert testimony in Florida. 1 See, Stokes v. State, 548 So. 2d 188 (Fla. 1989).

The central importance of applying the relevancy, rather than the <u>Frye</u>, test is illustrated by the facts of this case. The victim was a "boyfriend" known by respondent for about two weeks and with whom respondent had stayed for two days before his death; the only evidence of abuse was respondent's testimony that the victim slapped her once four days before his death and slapped her once one day before his death. The First District's ready acceptance of so-called battered woman's syndrome evidence in a case such as this, where it defined battered woman's syndrome as "a

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the above cited legal authorities and arguments, the state respectfully requests this Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction in this matter.

series of common characteristics that appear in women who are abused physically and psychologically over an extended period of time by the dominant male figure in their lives" (Al at 2; emphasis supplied), turns the concept of relevance on its head. Thus, the First District's additional holding that testimony by respondent's mother that respondent had been abused by her father and other boyfriends should have been admitted is particularly telling.

determining whether to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction, this Court also should consider the pending nature of State v. Hickson, case number 79,222, which involves numerous questions about the battered spouse This Court will recall the state's position in Hickson that evidence of battered woman's syndrome is nothing more than a subterfuge for self defense, which is admissible with or without expert testimony, when relevant. Because the instant opinion from the First District affects the admissibility of this syndrome evidence as a matter of law, it appears eminently prudent for this Court to exercise jurisdiction in this case so as to resolve both cases consistently on this important point of law.