JUN 7 1993 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

SID J. WHITE

040

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

MARY JOYCE ROGERS,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 1st DCA Case No.: 91-854

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

GWENDOLYN SPIVEY Special Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 295450 Post Office Box 14494 Tallahassee, Florida 32317 (904) 668-3593

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, the prosecuting authority in the trial court and appellee below, will be referred to in this brief as the State. Respondent, MARY JOYCE ROGERS, the defendant in the trial court and appellant below, will be referred to in this brief as Ms. Rogers or Respondent. References to the appendix will be noted by the symbol "A," followed by the appropriate page number(s), all in parentheses.

For purposes of this brief, Respondent accepts the State's Statement of the Case and Facts.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There is no express and direct conflict for this Court's jurisdiction. The court below did not even cite two of the cases with which the State claims conflict and only cited the third in support of a general proposition. The State is simply attempting to get this Court to accept jurisdiction to reverse the holding below that the Battered Woman's Syndrome is henceforth admissible as a matter of law, subject to its relevancy to the individual case and the qualification of the expert.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT AND OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL.

A. There is no "express and direct conflict."

The Supreme Court of Florida has jurisdiction to review, at its discretion, a decision of a district court of appeal that "expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the Supreme Court on the same question of law." Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). This Rule comports with Article V, Section 1(b)(3), Florida Constitution, amended in 1980, which now requires an "express" as well as a "direct" conflict of district court of appeal decisions as a prerequisite to discretionary review by the Supreme Court.¹

In <u>Griffin v. State</u>, 367 So. 2d 736 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979), the Fourth District found that a "flagrant and fundamental departure from basic law is required to achieve the discretionary and extraordinary review" of so-called "conflict" certiorari. <u>Id.</u> at 737. This was so even though <u>Griffin</u> was decided under the more lenient standard of review which existed prior to the 1980 amendment of Article V which added the requirement of "express" conflict. In the instant case, there is no such flagrant and

¹ It has been noted that, if the Supreme Court disagrees with a district court of appeal as to the existence of a conflict, it may review a decision "even in the absence of" district court of appeal certification, under Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). <u>Cushen v. Grossman Holdings, Ltd.</u>, 424 So. 2d 79 n. 1.

fundamental departure to warrant even the label of "direct" much less "express" conflict.

Since the decision below of the First District Court of Appeal did not recognize or create any express and direct conflict with another district court of appeal, there is no basis for this Court's jurisdiction. First, the decision below did not even <u>cite</u> two of the cases with which the State claims "express" conflict and only cited the third in support of a general proposition. Second, the court below recognizes the distinction between the relevancy test and the <u>Frye</u> "sufficiently established" test and makes evidence of the Battered Woman's Syndrome admissible as a matter of law "subject to its relevancy." <u>Rogers v. State</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D930, 931 (Fla. 1st DCA April 8, 1993).

In <u>Hawthorne v. State</u>, 408 So. 2d 801 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), <u>denied mem.</u>, 415 So. 2d 1361 (Fla. 1982), the court held that evidence of Battered Woman's Syndrome would only be admitted after relevancy to the case at hand was established. The court then set out a two-part test for the trial court, and the holding below merely removed part two of that test.

There is likewise no conflict with the decisions of this Court, because, contrary to the State's argument, this Court expressly adopted the <u>Frye</u> test in <u>Stokes v. State</u>, 548 So. 2d 188 (Fla. 1989):

[W]e believe that the test espoused in <u>Frye</u> properly addresses the issue of the admissibility of posthypnotic testimony.

Because our determination centers on the application of the <u>Frye</u> rule, we must examine the scientific research and literature to see whether opinions within the scientific community . . . have changed since [1992].

<u>Id.</u> at 195.

Although <u>Stokes</u> makes passing mention of relevancy, noting that procedural safeguards were based in part on the premise that courts have an aversion to the exclusion of relevant evidence, the cases cited by the State is support of the relevancy test were all decided prior to <u>Stokes</u>.

B. The decision below does not "adopt" the Frye standard.

The court below, explaining <u>Hawthorne's</u> qualified approval of evidence of Battered Woman's Syndrome, distinguished <u>Frye</u> as "the usual requirement for the admission of novel scientific evidence." The case below simply did away with the previously unnecessary and time-consuming case-by-case analysis required by <u>Hawthorne</u> and did not expressly adopt the <u>Frye</u> test for this type evidence. <u>Frye</u> was not even cited except in a footnote quoting <u>Stokes</u>.

In <u>Stokes</u>, the court further noted that novel scientific evidence (hypnotically refreshed testimony) is per se inadmissible subject to a case-by-case review to see whether opinions within the scientific community have changed. <u>Stokes</u> recognized that the state of the art or scientific knowledge relative to the proffered evidence may at some point be sufficiently developed to have gained general acceptance within the scientific community. However, when a previously

unrecognized syndrome is firmly established and widely accepted within the relevant scientific community, a case-by-case analysis is no longer necessary, and the syndrome becomes accepted as a matter of law. This is precisely what the court below has done for Battered Woman's Syndrome - still subject to the prerequisite tests of its relevancy and the qualification of the expert.

C. <u>The State's petition is a ruse to attack admissibility of</u> the Battered Woman's Syndrome.

The State's true purpose in seeking this Court's jurisdiction is to challenge the decision below that the Battered Woman's Syndrome is admissible as a matter of law. <u>See</u> Petitioner's Brief on Jurisdiction at 9 n. 1. Contrary to the assertion therein, this case and <u>State v. Hickson</u>, 589 So. 2d 1366, 1369-70 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), now pending before this Court as Case No. 79,222, do not address the same issue. Rather, the issue certified in <u>Hickson</u> is whether a criminal defendant who intends to present expert testimony on the battered woman's syndrome may be compelled to submit to an examination by a putative expert witness for the State without violating the defendant's right to be free from compulsory self-incrimination. Thus, since that was not an issue in the instant case, there is no basis for reviewing these cases jointly.

CONCLUSION

Respondent urges this Court that jurisdiction does not exist in this case.